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         P R O C E E D I N G S

* * * 

FRIDAY, FEBRUARY 21, 2020

COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA

* * * 

(Whereupon, the following proceedings were held 

in open court.  All parties were present along 

with their attorneys.)

THE COURT:  State ready to proceed?

MR. KEY:  Yes, sir, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  All right.  

Mr. Waller, are you ready to proceed?

MR. WALLER:  Yes, sir, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Call the case, please.

MR. KEY:  May it please the Court, this is the case 

of Michael Thomas v. State of South Carolina.  Case Number 

2017-CP-40-00943.

Mr. Thomas commenced this PCR action on February 

22, 2017.  He is presently confined in the South Carolina 

Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of 

the Richland County Clerk of Court.  

In July of 2014, the Richland County Grand Jury 

indicted him for kidnapping, criminal sexual conduct, first 

degree, and first degree burglary.  
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He was represented by Robert L. Banks.  Assistant 

Solicitor, Margaret Fent-Bogman prosecuted the case.  

On April 26, 2016, he pleaded guilty as indicted to 

all charges before the Honorable Deandra Benjamin.  Pursuant to 

a negotiated sentence, Judge Benjamin sentenced him to serve 

concurrent terms of 30 years for all three charges.  

He did not appeal his conviction or sentence.  

Mr. Thomas has alleged ineffective assistance of counsel 

rendering his guilty plea unknowing and involuntary.  He is 

present today and represented by Mr. Jonathan Waller.  

At this time, I will hand it over to Mr. Waller.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Waller.

MR. WALLER:  Thank you, Your Honor, May it please 

the Court.

THE COURT:  Yes, sir.

MR. WALLER:  Judge, back in June of 2019 -- 

additionally, I filed an amendment to the application.  That 

was regarding some mental health issues Mr. Thomas has been 

suffering from his entire life.  Judge, we had him evaluated 

for criminal responsibility.  The criminal responsibility is 

not going to be a part of our presentation today; however, the 

mental health issues will certainly be discussed -- but it is 

not going to be an allegation for us.  

THE COURT:  Let me ask you this:  Before we broke, 

I requested the A.G.'s file on this case.  I was back there in 

4

MICHAEL D. THOMAS V. STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA - 2017-CP-40-00943

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

48



my office looking at it.  It appears that an evaluation was 

done on December 13, 2019.  One was attempted to have been done 

on October 29, 2019, wherein the applicant, Mr. Thomas, did 

not -- according to the record in here -- did not cooperate 

with the evaluation that was done.  There was one that 

addressed criminal responsibility as well as capacity to 

conform.

MR. WALLER:  That's correct, Your Honor.  The 

October one -- I think there was a little bit of 

misunderstanding.  I had spoken to the Department of Mental 

Health that day.  It wasn't that he was not cooperating.  It 

was simply that he wanted me to be present for the evaluation.  

I subsequently was present for the December evaluation.  I 

think that was the only issue there, Judge.  

THE COURT:  I am gleaning what I said from the 

Department of Mental Health's October 30, 2019 letter.  

In addition in reading -- I didn't get through the 

entire transcript of the plea.  It appears that he was 

evaluated prior to his plea as well.  Is that right?

MR. WALLER:  He was, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. WALLER:  I believe he had been evaluated some 

years before that as a juvenile as well.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else at this point?

MR. WALLER:  Nothing further, Your Honor.  
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THE COURT:  Are you ready to proceed?

MR. WALLER:  Yes, sir, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Yes, sir, Mr. Key.

MR. KEY:  Do you have a copy of the December of 

2019 evaluation in your packet?

THE COURT:  Evaluation?

MR. KEY:  Evaluation.  

THE COURT:  Yes, sir.

MR. WALLER:  Thank you, Your Honor.

We will call Michael Thomas.  Raise your right 

hand.

MICHAEL D. THOMAS,

Called as a witness by and behalf of the Defense 

to testify, being first duly sworn was examined 

and testified as follows:

* * *

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY {SPEAKER3}:  

Q. Good morning, Mr. Thomas, how are you today?

A. Fine, how about yourself?  

Q. Mr. Thomas, I need you to speak into the 

microphone.  Speak loudly and slowly, so everybody can hear you 

and she can transcribe it, okay?  

A Okay.

Q Mr. Thomas, I want to take you back to when you were 
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first arrested.  

  Do you remember that?

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. When you were first arrested, what all were you 

charged with?

A. Burglary, first, kidnapping, CSC first.  

Q. Criminal sexual conduct, first degree?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You were not arrested on the day of the alleged 

incident, isn't that right?

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. You were arrest sometime later?

A. Yes, sir.

THE COURT:  Sir, I need you to speak up please, 

okay?  

THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.  

BY MR. WALLER:  

Q. All right.  When you were arrested, were you given 

a lawyer?

A. No, sir, not at that time, I wasn't.

Q. About how long after you were arrested did you get 

a lawyer?

A. I can't quite remember.

Q. Was it weeks?  Was it months?  Days?  

A. A few months, if I am not mistaken.
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A. Who was your first attorney?

A. I think Ms. Tracy Penock (phonetic), if I am not 

mistaken.

A. At some point did you get another lawyer?

A. Mr. Banks.

Q. When you met with Mr. Banks the first time, do you 

recall that meeting?

A. No, sir.

Q. About how long after you were arrested did 

Mr. Banks become your attorney, if you remember?

A. Much, much later.

Q. Had you and Mr. Banks talked about your case at all 

then?

A. I am not quite sure.

Q. When Mr. Banks became your attorney, did you-all 

have a chance to talk about your case?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you-all talk about your Constitutional rights?

A. I don't recall that conversation.  

Q. Did you-all talk about your right to remain silent?

A. I don't recall the conversation.  

Q. Did you-all talk about your right to a jury trial?

A. I believe he spoke about a jury trial, yes, sir.  

Q. We will come back to this in a minute.  You-all 

were actually starting a trial, is that correct?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. There was some forensic testing in your case that 

was done, do you remember that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you-all have a chance to talk about those 

different things?

A. I believe so, I can't quite recall that.

Q. Did you talk about the DNA in the case?

  A   As far as DNA, the only thing I know about that 

was, he had a little scratch sheet of paper where he had some 

numbers written down on the it.  

A. Come back to that in a second.  Did you-all have a 

chance to talk about any of the cell phone tracking, GPS Data 

that was taken from the cell phones?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you-all have a chance to talk about the 

database, the CODIS database, the DNA database?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you have a copy of your discovery while the 

charge was pending?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you make bond in this case, or were you in the 

detention center?

A. In the detention center.

Q. The whole time?
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A. The whole time.  

Q. You did not have a copy of that report, isn't that 

right?

A. No, sir, I didn't.

Q. Did you get a copy at some point?

A. After I took the plea.

A. Did you get a copy from the Department of 

Corrections, or where did you get a copy?

A. Department of Corrections.

A. Did you ask Mr. Banks to get you one?

A. I was asking Mr. Banks numerous times the whole 

time, he refused to get me copy.  

Q. Did he give you part of it or --

A. He never gave me none of it.

Q. Did you ever have a chance to see the incident 

reports or anything like that?

A. No, sir.

Q. What did you and Mr. Bank talk about as far as 

potential defenses in this case?

A. The only thing he ever spoke to me about was 

pleading guilty, saying he don't see no way around it.  Just 

plead guilty.  

Q. You-all were in the middle of pretrial motions when 

you entered your plea, isn't that right?

A. Yes, sir.  
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Q. Obviously you-all had been preparing for trial.  

What was your strategy for the trial?

A. Nothing that I can recall.

Q. Did you give him any information you wanted him to 

look into?

A. I didn't really know nothing about the case.  I 

didn't know nothing.  Hoping he knew what to do.

Q. Did you give him any witnesses you wanted him to 

call?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he call or talk to any of those people?

A. Not that I know of.

Q. When I say witnesses, were you able to give 

Mr. Banks names and addresses, like real names and addresses?

A. I gave him the name and locations where he could 

have found people at.

Q. Was it a real name or a street name?

A. It was both.  A nickname and a first name.  I 

didn't know his last name.

Q. The public defender's office had a private 

investigator in the case, do you remember that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you give that private investigator any of these 

names?

A. I believe so.
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Q. Did you have a chance to meet with the investigator 

about this?

A. Yes, sir, I believe so.

Q. You maintain that you -- until you pled guilty 

--that you were not at this location.  You were at a park, 

isn't that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you give Mr. Bank or the investigator any 

information as to what -- how they could corroborate that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What did they tell you about your investigation?

A. I don't quite remember.

Q. All right.  Let me ask you this:  You have been 

treated for mental health issues your entire life, isn't that 

right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have been hospitalized before because of that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I don't want to get into everything, but was 

Mr. Banks aware of your prior mental health issues?

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Did you-all talk about how that might affect your 

case or your understanding of the case?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you have any difficulty understanding your 
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conversations with him because of that?

A. I did, yes, sir.

Q. Were you on your -- were you taking any medication 

during the time he was representing you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you recall what you were taking then?

A. I believe it was Depress (phonetic).

Q. When you actually entered the guilty plea, did you 

tell the judge that you were taking that medication? 

  A   Yes, sir?

Q. You told the judge it didn't affect you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were you on medication the entire time you were 

incarcerated?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was it the same medication?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you have any issues with it?  Did they have to 

adjust it or anything like that?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know if Mr. Bank ever got any of your mental 

health records?

A. No, sir.  I don't know.

Q. You-all were preparing to go to trial.  You 

mentioned the DNA earlier.  You said he had some numbers 
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written down on a scratch piece of paper.  What do you mean by 

that?

A. He just had a scratch sheet of paper where he had 

written down some numbers and showed them to me.  I didn't 

understand or know what that meant.

Q. Like a legal pad?

A. A legal pad like that, yes, sir.

Q. Was it his trial notes?  Do you know?

A. It was just -- I don't know what it was, it was 

just numbers.

Q. So he is telling you about the DNA, you didn't see 

the actual -- 

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you ever see a copy of that report?

A. Not until after the Department of Corrections.

Q. Mr. Thomas, you obviously had started a trial.  You 

picked the jury.  You were going through pretrial motions, 

isn't that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What changed?  Why did you decide not to go 

forward?

A. When I heard the solicitor and the judge speaking 

about life, I didn't want that life sentence.  I just plead 

(sic) guilty to 38.

Q. Had you talked to Mr. Banks about what the State 
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has to do in order for you to be convicted?

A. Sir?  

Q. Had you talked to Mr. Banks about what the State 

had to prove in order for you to be convicted?

A. No, sir.

Q. You can't get a life sentence without being 

convicted, isn't that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you understand in the conversations of 

Mr. Banks the elements of the three different offenses that the 

State had to prove?

A. No, sir.

Q. Had you-all talk about the three individual charges 

that you had?

A. We spoke about it, yes, sir.

  Q   Did you-all talk about the how the State intended to do 

that?  What evidence they had to try to do that

A. I believe so.  I am not quite sure.  

Q. Based on your conversations with Mr. Bank, do you 

think he was ready to go to trial?

A. No, sir.

Q. Why did you not think he was ready?

A. The whole time he ever spoke to me, even the week 

before -- I tried him and the other two that was representing 

me -- the only thing they was spoking (sic) about was me 
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pleading guilty to the charge, saying that that was the best, 

for me to just plead guilty.  

Q. You didn't think they were preparing.  They were 

just trying to get you to plead guilty?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is there anything else you have seen since you 

received a copy of your own file that you did not know about?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What else did you see?

A. Like the DNA, that Mr. Bank could have fought it.  

It never excluded me from the crime scene, but it never fully 

concluded me to the crime scene.  Do you see what I am saying? 

It could have been DNA from any member of my family.  

Q. Did you-all have a chance to go over the 

conclusions in the DNA report?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you have a full understanding about that DNA 

report?

A. No, sir.

Q. Is it your understanding that that is the main 

evidence the State has connecting you to this crime?

A. It is now, yes, sir.  

MR. WALLER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Thomas, I think I have asked you all the 

questions I have.  Is there anything else that you think the 
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Judge needs to be aware of from Mr. Bank's representation?  

A. No, sir.

MR. WALLER:  Please answer any questions Mr. Key 

asks.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Key.  

* * *

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. KEY

BY MR. KEY:  

Q. Mr. Thomas, I believe on direct you testified that 

you remember discussing your case with Mr. Bank?

A. I believe I spoke with him some time about the 

case.

Q. You and Mr. Bank did talk about your case before 

trial and before you pled guilty?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. He discussed the DNA report.  He just didn't show 

you the actual report he had notes on.  

A. It wasn't quite notes.  It was just numbers he had 

written on a legal pad.

Q. But he did discuss with you -- he told you about 

the DNA report?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You talked about the cell phone tracking with 

Mr. Bank?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. You knew about the CODIS database?

A. Not until after I took the plea and got all my 

paperwork.

Q. So you did not know about the CODIS hit until 

after?

A. After I got the paperwork, after the plea.

Q. When you were going through your pretrial, you said 

you heard the solicitor and the judge say you could get life.  

That is when you decided to plead guilty, is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. So you pled guilty because you didn't want to 

receive a life sentence?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You said Mr. Bank kept talking to you about wanting 

you to plead guilty.  Was he in any way forcing you to plead 

guilty, or was he just advising you that he thought it was in 

your best interest to plead guilty?

A. He just kept saying, he don't see no way around it.  

Just catch a plea instead of taking a life sentence.  

Q. So essentially he said, if you go to trial, he 

thinks you will be found guilty and advised you -- or 

recommended you to take a guilty plea?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. He knew, obviously, that you could have a jury 

trial in this case and not plead guilty?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. You knew what you were charged with?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did Mr. Bank ever explain to you the State's burden 

of proof?

A. No, sir.

Q. He did not?

A. No, sir.

Q. You testified you didn't know anything about what 

he had done to prepare for trial, but at the time you were 

relying on your lawyer for that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Then when you were in court and you heard you could 

get a life sentence, that is when you decided to plead guilty?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You testified you gave Mr. Bank names and addresses 

of some possible witnesses?

A. Not addresses.  Locations, like areas.  

Q. Names and locations?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know if any of them were going to come to 

your trial?

A. I didn't know for sure, but I know they could have 

verified my whereabouts with them at that time.

Q. So they couldn't have located the witnesses?
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A. I am assuming not.

Q. Are those witnesses here today?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you know if Mr. Bank was aware of your mental 

health issues?

A. He was.

Q. Did he have you evaluated before you pled guilty?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you recall telling the judge in your guilty plea 

that you were taking your medications?

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. You told the judge that taking your medications did 

not -- you knew what was going on?

A. Yes, sir.

MR. KEY:  Nothing further, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Anything else, Mr. Waller?

MR. WALLER:  Thank you, Your Honor, briefly.  

* * *

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER

BY MR. WALLER:

Q. Mr. Thomas, we talked about the DNA, exactly what 

did Mr. Bank tell you about the DNA?

A. I don't quite remember him speaking too much about 

it.  I don't quite remember.

Q. You said he had numbers written down.  Did he tell 
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you when it was a match?  Did he go over the numbers with you?  

Do you recall?

A. No, sir, I don't.

Q. We talked earlier about you not having a copy of 

any of your discovery, not going over all of it with Mr. Bank, 

isn't that right?

A. Yes, sir.  

Q. Also that you didn't think he was prepared for 

trial, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Knowing what you know now, would you still have 

pled guilty, or would you have gone to trial?

A. I would have went through with the trial.

Q. You would have have continued on to the trial?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Nothing further, thank you.  

THE COURT:  Any re-cross?  

MR. KEY:  No, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Sir, you may step down, thank you.  

Mr. Waller, anything further?  

MR. WALLER:  Nothing further from the applicant, 

Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Key.  

MR. KEY:  Your Honor, the State would call Bobby 

Bank.  
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THE COURT:  Sir, come around and be sworn, sir.  

ROBERT BANK, ESQ.,

Called as a witness by and behalf of the Court 

to testify, being first duly sworn was examined 

and testified as follows:

* * *

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KEY

BY MR. KEY:  

Q. Mr. Bank, do you recall representing Mr. Thomas?

A. Yes, sir.  He was charged with CSC, burglary in the 

first degree, and kidnapping.  I believe the warrants were 

served on him while he was doing a sentence that was unrelated 

at the Department of Corrections.  Tracy Penock, who was an 

assistant public defender with the Richland County public 

defenders office, was originally appointed to represent him.  I 

took over her entire caseload, including Mr. Thomas' case, 

sometime after that.  Shortly after I received the case, he was 

transferred back to the Alvin S. Glenn detention center.  

Q. Did you go and meet with Mr. Thomas while he was at 

Alvin Glenn?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you recall how many times?

A. Many times.  15, 20, 25 times.

Q. Mr. Thomas testified that he hasn't received a full 

copy of his discovery.  Did you go over the discovery with him?
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A. Yes, sir.  I don't recall whether he asked to 

retain a copy our not, but I certainly brought the discovery 

materials down to the jail.  I specifically remember 

immediately prior to trial going down several times with our 

trial notebooks, which were filled with the discovery.  

Q. Did you usually give your clients a copy of your 

discovery while they were at Alvin Glenn?

A. My practice is to advise against it.  But if they 

are -- it is their decision.  I usually advise against it.  If 

they decide they still want it, we will go ahead and give it to 

them.  

Q. Could you describe your ability to communicate with 

Mr. Thomas, were you able to communicate with him?

A. There were obviously concerns with his mental 

health.  He struggled with mental health issues and a learning 

disability his entire life.  I believe there was some rocky 

times in the relationship.  I think that he filed a complaint 

with ODC, and we also had a motion to be relieved.  

I still felt comfortable being able to work and 

communicate with him.  

Q. Did you have Mr. Thomas evaluated before he pled 

guilty?  

A. I had him evaluated twice for competency.

Q. I believe you testified you went over the discovery 

with him several times.  Do you recall what the State was 
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alleging that he had done?

A. Sure.  There was a USC student that lived in Five 

Points who was at her home alone.  There was an intruder who 

came into the house during the nighttime hours.  He confronted 

her and then sexually assaulted her and left.  She was unable 

to give any identifying information outside of generalized race 

and gender.  Later a CODIS hit for DNA came back to the rape 

kit that they had taken from her when she went to the hospital.  

That was the main evidence against him. 

She was not able to identify him out of a lineup.  

There were no other witnesses placing him on the scene.  The 

DNA was the significant evidence for the State.

Q. Did you explain that the DNA was the State's 

significant evidence to Mr. Thomas?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. He testified that when you talked to him about DNA, 

you just had numbers on a sheet of paper?

Do you recall -- when you discussed with him the DNA, do 

you recall that?  

A. Sure.  Any DNA, particularly when it is the main 

piece of evidence, we hire a DNA expert.  In this case, we 

hired Dr. Escouty (phonetic), who has since passed away.  

Dr. Escouty would review not only the DNA reports, but what 

most people commonly refer to as the bench notes, which is the 

scientific lab reports that include a lot of charts and graphs 
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and electropherograms. 

I would consult with Dr. Escouty, and I did on this 

case about whether he believed the notes were credible and what 

the benchnotes meant and how they applied to them.  I recall 

going down with Mr. Thomas and showing him the reports, which 

are generally not lengthy, they are anywhere from 2 to 8 pages. 

Basically they lay out the general conclusions of the lab 

technician.  Rather than trying to go through all of the 

electropherograms and charts and graphs that even I have a 

difficult time understanding, we would have gone through and  

shown how the alleles and electropherograms would have worked.  

I definitely would have done that through charting on legal 

pads and paper.  

Q. Do you recall what the DNA showed?

A. I was just sitting back there.  If you have a 

report that would be helpful.  Off the top of my head, I 

believe it was two hits.  One was a lower probability, YSTER.  

A match to Mr. Thomas.  And the other was a very high 

probability match through STR testing.

Q. So there were two hits YSTR, and a higher 

probability.  Did you explain to him why STR could be anyone in 

his -- a male in his family who could be the result of the 

YSTR?

A. Sure.  When it says that on the reports.

Q. Did you explain to him that it was the other DNA 
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match with a much higher probability that it was him?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. DNA reports, do they say that this is a match, or 

do they say that he cannot be excluded as the contributor?

A. It depends, I won't pretend to be a DNA expert.  

Usually, they will give a number that will say, this person 

could be one in a million, or one in 500 million.  A DNA report 

doesn't ever say it's exactly the same person.  

Q. He could not be excluded from the DNA in this case?

A. Yes.  Correct.

Q. Do you recall what probability it was, ballpark?

A. I believe it was many zeros more than a million.  

Again, I really prefer to rely on the report.

Q. Did you explain it Mr. Thomas his Constitutional 

rights?

A. Yes.

Q. His right to a jury trial?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you explain to him he had the right to testify 

and that he did not have to testify.  Did you explain that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you explain to him the charges he was facing?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you explain the elements of the charges?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Did you explain the State's burden of proof?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you advise or recommend that Mr. Thomas plead 

guilty in this case?

A. There were three lawyers on the case.  I am not 

here to obviously testify for them.  The defense team as a 

whole had varying opinions of the likelihood of being found 

guilty at trial.  But at the end of the day, we all, including 

myself, believed that it was very likely that he would be 

convicted at trial.  That he very likely could receive a life 

sentence.  

Q. Did you explain to Mr. Thomas his exposure that he 

was facing if he had gone forward?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you explain to him what the State's plea offer 

meant?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. It was a negotiated offer?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you recall if there were any other offers made?

A. There was nothing lower than that.  For the 

majority of the case, there was never any offer made to any 

degree.  I believe the 30 year offer came closer to trial.

Q. That was the best offer that the State made?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Do you recall when during the pretrial Mr. Thomas 

decided he wanted to plead guilty?

A. The discussions were ongoing.  There was at least 

one time that we went into a jury room with Mr. Thomas so that 

he could speak with his mother, I believe.  I don't recall if 

it was the first day after jury selection.  I think it may have 

been the second day when we were still finishing pretrial 

motions.

Q. But at some point during the pretrial motions, he 

indicated to you that he wanted to plead guilty?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you and Mr. Thomas ever discuss your trial 

strategy if it had gone forward with the trial?

A. Sure.  The strategy was to say that he wasn't 

present.  That the DNA was in some way inaccurate.  

Q. So he knew that that was your trial strategy going 

into the trial?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were you prepared for trial?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did Mr. Thomas ever indicate to you that he was not 

taking his medications?

A. Not that I recall.  

Q. Do you recall at the guilty plea him telling the 

judge that he was taking his medications?
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A. I believe so, yes.

Q. Did you ever look into getting Mr. Thomas' mental 

health records?

A. Yes, sir.  We did.

Q. You did get those mental health records?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did that help -- was that to help with your trial 

prep?

A. We would have gotten those for a number of reasons, 

one to help us evaluate any issues of competency and to help 

any of the doctors that were evaluating him.  It would have 

also been something that we could have used in mitigation at 

sentencing.  

Q. Did he ever ask you to investigate any potential 

witnesses?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he give you the names or addresses or 

locations?

A. The best he could.

Q. Did you hire an investigator in this case?

A. I did.

Q. Did the investigator talk to Mr. Thomas?

A. Yes, sir.  I believe so.

Q. Were you-all able to locate any of those potential 

witnesses?
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A. Without any last names or addresses, it was 

difficult.  We were unable to.

MR. KEY:  Beg the court's indulgence.

THE COURT:  All right.  

BY MR. KEY: 

Q. Mr. Bank, would you describe your trial strategy 

was.  You said that he wasn't there, and the DNA did not match 

his.  What information did he give you to lead to that being 

your trial strategy?

A. That he said he wasn't there and didn't commit the 

crime.  

Q. From your discussions with him?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he tell you that these witnesses would have 

verified that information?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. He couldn't give you the names, the full names of 

the witnesses?

A. That's correct.

Q. And you had an investigator try to locate these 

witnesses?

A. That's correct.

Q. I may have already asked this.  Did you explain 

each element of the offenses to Mr. Thomas?

A. That is my practice, yes.  
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Q. No further questions, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Hold on a minute.  

Are you attorneys back there? 

UNKNOWN SPEAKER: I am, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  You-all need to put your phones up, 

please

UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Yes, sir.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

Mr. WALLER

MR. WALLER:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

* * *

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER

BY MR. WALLER:  

Q. Good morning, Mr. Bank, how are you today?

A. I am doing well.  

Q. Mr. Bank, you testified that it is practice to 

advise against having a copy of discovery materials in the 

detention center?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why is that?

A. Because if any of the other inmates get access to 

it or learn anything about the case, they can oftentimes try to 

offer themselves as witnesses to the government, essentially 

lie to the government and tell them what a client has discussed 

and then confess the case to them and then use the material 
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from the discovery to try to corroborate that position.  

And the State is always ready to use a jail house 

informant in a case.

Q. Is that a blanket policy for all discovery, or are 

different things more susceptible to that witness statement?  A 

DNA report, for instance?

A. I apply it to the entirety of discovery.  Again, 

the policy is not to refuse to give the discovery, it is simply 

to advice against it.  We usually actually have the clients 

sign something acknowledging that they have been advised 

against retaining the discovery in jail.  I won't refuse to 

give it to them.  

Q. I wasn't trying to intimate that you would.  In 

this case in particular, would it have -- in your opinion, 

would it have caused any possible difficulty to give him a copy 

of the DNA report?

A. It's hard for me to speculate what another 

jailhouse inmate what have tried or attempted to use it for.

Q. You testified that Mr. Thomas maintained he was not 

present and that he didn't commit the crime?

A. That's correct.

Q. He gave you -- attempted to give you some witness' 

names and the general locations.  

Is it unusual that a criminal defendant doesn't know the full 

names of other people who might be witnesses?
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A. That has happened in other cases.

Q. Was Mr. Thomas uncooperative to try to give you 

information or anything like that?

A. No, sir.

Q. It was simply that he didn't know the full names 

and addresses of those people, isn't that right?

A. That's correct.

MR. KEY:  Beg the Court's indulgence please.  

Thank you, Mr. Bank.  

THE COURT:  Any redirect?

MR. KEY:  Briefly, Your Honor.  

* * *

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WALLER

BY MR. KEY:  

Q. Mr. Banks, you said it was your policy to advice 

your client against having his discovery materials while they 

are in the detention center?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. If they want -- after you advise them of the 

dangers of having the discovery material, you will give it to 

them?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have your client sign a form saying that you 

acknowledge the dangers of the discovery before you give to 

them?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you recall Mr. Thomas asking for his discovery 

in this case?

A. Not specifically.  I would rather not dispute 

whether he did or not.  If he believes he did, we could have 

had that conversation.

A. Do you recall if you advised him of the dangers of 

getting his discovery, or having a copy of his discovery? 

A. Again, not specifically.  I can just say that is my 

general practice of what I do when they ask.

Q. If he had really wanted his discovery, is there any 

reason you would not have given it to him?

A. No, sir.

MR. KEY:  No further questions, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Sir, you may step down, thank you.  

Anything further from the State?  

MR. KEY:  No, Your Honor.  We would ask if Mr. Bank 

could be released from his subpoena.

THE COURT:  Any objection?

MR. WALLER:  No objection, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Bank, you are released.  Have a 

nice day.  Thank you for being here.  

Anything by way of argument? 

MR. WALLER:  From the testimony of Mr. Thomas and 

Mr. Bank, Mr. Thomas has been treated life long for mental 
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health issues as well as learning disabilities, we learned that 

through Mr. Bank testimony.  Judge, we have a discussion where 

Mr. Thomas maintained his innocence throughout the pendency of 

the case, right up until the very end.  

He was not provided a copy of his discovery 

materials and the main piece of evidence was discussed with him 

through a legal pad, notes on a legal pad.  I certainly 

understand Mr. Bank might be making his notes, however, he also 

testified that the actual report from a DNA report is not 

lengthy, it's not complicated, it's just, here is the 

probability of this person.  

Judge, all of that happened when the trial started 

and Mr. Thomas felt that Mr. Bank wasn't prepared.  He tried to 

get him to plead guilty.  He was fearful of getting a life 

sentence.  

I think we have a situation here where Mr. Thomas 

did not, was put in the ultimate difficult position of 

proceeding to trial where he might get a life sentence with a 

lawyer he feels is unprepared and does not have his best 

interests at heart versus pleading guilty against his interests 

to a sentence where he knows what he is going to get. 

Judge, I think that -- given the testimony today, I 

would ask that you grant Mr. Thomas' application.  Let him 

proceed with that trial that had been started and let the 

system come out where it should, Your Honor
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THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Waller.  

Mr. Key.  

  MR. KEY:  Judge, May it please the Court, Mr. Bank 

testified that he reviewed all the discovery with his client, 

with Mr. Thomas.  He met with him several times.  Mr. Bank 

testified he was ready for trial.  They had started pretrial 

motions.  It was during those pretrial that Mr. Thomas decided 

he wanted to plead guilty instead of proceeding forward with 

his trial.  

  Mr. Thomas testified that he decided to plead 

guilty when he heard the solicitor and the judge mention that 

he could get a life sentence for these crimes.  He was charged 

with first-degree burglary.  He very well certainly could have 

gotten a life sentence on first-degree burglary alone.  At that 

point, he decided he wanted to plead guilty. 

So Mr. Thomas testified that he -- that Mr. Bank 

did discuss with him the DNA report, but he said when Mr. Bank 

discussed with him the DNA report, all he had were his notes on 

a legal pad.  

Your Honor, Mr. Thomas knew of the DNA results.  He 

knew there was DNA evidence out there linking him to this 

crime.  He chose to plead guilty because he wanted to avoid a 

life sentence.  

THE COURT:  I will take a look at this and let you 

know.  
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MR. WALLER:  Thank you Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

(Whereupon, at 11:21 a.m. the proceedings were 

concluded.)

* * *

END OF TRANSCRIPT  

37

MICHAEL D. THOMAS V. STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA - 2017-CP-40-00943

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

81



CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

I, Kymberlee M. Williams, Certified Shorthand 

Reporter/Registered Professional Reporter for the State of 

South Carolina, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true, 

accurate, and complete Transcript of Record of the proceedings 

and evidence introduced in the hearing of the captioned case, 

relative to appeal, in the Family Court for Dorchester County, 

South Carolina, on the 21st day of February, 2020.

I do further certify that I am not related, of 

counsel, or of interest to any party hereto.

This, the 9th day of February, 2021.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
*

; COUNTY OF

STATE

) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

)Richland

VS7 INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2014GS4004537

A/W#: 20 14A402 1600850	

Date of Offense: 3/15/2014	

S.C. Code § ; 16-03-0910	

CDR Code #: 0095

)Michael Darnell Thomas
)AKA: 	

Race: BLACK

DOB:

Address: 229 Cool Shade Drive
City,State,Zip: Columbia. SC

DL#:

Sex: M	

SS#:

Age: 24
)

)
) SENTENCE SHEETSID#: 02090870
)

*CDL YesQ NoQ CMVYesQ NoQ Hazmat YesQ NoQ
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was
TO: Kidnapping / Kidnapping	

CONVICTED OF or (Xj PLEADS

in violation of § 16-03-0910

NON-VIOLENT (X| VIOLENT

of the S.C. Cflde of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0095
SERIOUS >^MOST SERIOUS Mandatory GPS(CSC §17-25-45

w/minor 1st or Lewd Act)
The charge is: (X] As Indicted, Lesser Included Offense, Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury.

The plea is: Without Negotiations or Recommendation, (XJ Negotiated Sentence,

(defendant's initials)

Recommendation by the State.

-10131
Bodman, Margaret Fent

'a
SC Bar# Defendant

3 State Department of Corrections, County Detention Center,

» under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed

upon the service of

; plus costs and assessments as applicable91'; the balance is suspended with probation fo

Attorney for Defendant SC Bar#

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the

days/montWyear
; provi35d-tft

3Qfor a determinate term of years

days/months/years and/or paymentand/or to pay a fine of $

of $

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

M CONCURRENT or CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: 	
The Defendant is to be given credit for time aerved pursuant to S.C. Code

ny the State Department of Corrections. / /
The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Regis!

§ 24- 1 3-40 to be calculated and applied

Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammunition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
RESTITUTION: Deferred Def. WaivesJHearing Ordered PTUP 	
Total: $ 	

Payment Terms: 	

Set by SCDPPPS

f • '

cT-©-

iQiplus 20% fee: days/hours Public Service E

1383
o-ptl
Eo 3dx

111 LJ_
X) -J

Obtain GED

Attend Voc. Rehab, or Job Corp.

May serve W/E begining

Substance Abuse Counseling

Random Drug/Alcohol testing

Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive we

	 beginning q

paid to Public Defender Fund

Recipient: 		

Fine: 	

§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %)

§ 14-1-211 (A)( 1 ) (Conv. Surcharge)

§ 14-1-21 1(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge)

§ 56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment)

§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test)

Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob)

§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding)
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge)

§ 50-2 1-11 4(BUI Breath Test Fee)

§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment)

Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge)

3% to County (if paid in installments)

TOTAL

X

5$
r o o
y £ 05

$
$100 $

$100 $

$12 $

$25 ~$~~
$500

pmts. of$

$

Other:

$25 $
W&$150 $

$50 $
$40/ea $ Appointed PD or appointed $hter;to^^l>;:;

§ 47. 12 requires $500d>e ; iZ \'Uj
during probation. ' "

$5 $

$
V ©

$

Presiding Judge

ot i
~dj£.

Clerk of Court/ Depi
Judge Code:

Court Reporter: Sentence Date:

SCCA/2 1 7 (03/201 1) ! -
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
• .

.v COUNTY OF

STATE

) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

)Richland

VS. INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2014GS4004538

A/W#: 20 14A402 1600851	

Date of Offense: 3/15/2014	

S.C. Code § : 16-03-0652	

CDR Code #: 0160

)Michael Darnell Thomas
)AKA:

Race: BLACK

DOB:

Sex: M	

SS#:

Age: 24

Address: 229 Cool Shade Drive
City,State,Zip: Columbia. SC

DL#:

)
) SENTENCE SHEETSID#: 02090870
)

CDLYesQ NoQ CMVYesQ NoQ HazmatYesQ NoQ
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was
TO: Sex / Criminal sexual conduct - First degree

CONVICTED OF or PLEADS

in violation of § 16-03-0652

NON-VIOLENT 0 VIOLENT
of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code #

SERIOUS 0MOST SERIOUS Mandatory GPS(CSC

0160

§17-25-45
w/minor 1 st or Lewd Act)

The charge is: jX] As Indicted, Lesser Included Offense, Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury.
The plea is: Without Negotiations or Recommendation, [Xj Negotiated Sentence,

(defendant's initials)

Recommendation by the State.

	 	 TJ0^ fk~Vs
Hodman, Margaret Fent SC Bar# Defendant Attorney for Defendant

loino.
SC Bar#

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the State Department of Corrections, County Detention Center,

3D days/montftg^earpor under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed
; provraedmatupon the service of

for a determinate term of

and/or to pay a fine of$

years

days/months/years and/or payment

of $ ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:

fSY The Defendant is to be given credit for time served nursuant to S.C. Code
feiythe State Department of Corrections. I

The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry ofChild Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code § 1 7-25- 1 35.

CONCURRENT or

§ 24- 1 3-40 to be calculated and applied

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Crjmtyal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammunition. " "

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[ 1 Deferred Q Def. Waives Hearing Ordered PTUP 	

plus 20% fee:

f'fffKtffk Of

JeJsaRESTITUTION:

Total: $ 	

Payment Terms: 	

Set by SCDPPPS

days/hours Public Service Emj^yfefc^^j q q

Q

$

Obtain GED

Attend Voc. Rehab, or Job Corp. _

May serve W/E begining 	

Substance Abuse Counseling

Random Drug/Alcohol testing jj] Q

Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weelfty/mo
pmts. of $

5
Recipient: 	

Fine: 	
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %)

§ 14-1-21 1(A)(1) (Conv. Surcharge)

§ 14-1-21 1(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge)

§ 56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment)

§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test)

Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob)

§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding)
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge)

o O X£ o o
0C»

U_$

$
$100 $

$100 ~$
$12 ~$
$25

$500 $

beginning

$ paid to Public Defender Fund

Other:

$25 $
$150 $

§ 50-2 1-11 4(BUI Breath "ftst Feefe
§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment)

Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge)

3% to County (if paid in installments)

TOTAL ^

$50 $
$40/ea $ Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,

$ § 47. 12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk$5

during probation.$

$X\

Presiding Judge
Clerk of Court/ Deputyiflerl

Court Reporter:

SCCA/2 17 (03/2011)

Judge Code:

H ~ ~/Jz- , f~~\ '• /^Sentence Date:

i :>. '
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SJATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

/. COUNTY OF
' STATE

) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

)Richland

VS: INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2014GS4004539

A/W#: 20 14A402 1600853	

Date of Offense: 3/15/2014	

S.C. Code § : 16-11-0311	

CDR Code #: 0079

)Michael Darnell Thomas
AKA:

Race: BLACK

DOB:

Address: 229 Cool Shade Drive
City,State,Zip: Columbia. SC

DL#:

Sex: M	

SS#:

Age: 24

)
) SENTENCE SHEETSID#:

*CDLYesQ NoQ CMVYesQ NoQ HazmatYesQ NoQ
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was
TO: Burglary t Burglary (After June 20, 1985) - First degree

02090870
)

CONVICTED OF or ®PLEADS

in violation of § 1 6- 1 1 -03 1 1
NON-VIOLENT 0 VIOLENT

	of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0079
SERIOUS (X) MOST SERIOUS Mandatoiy GPS(CSC §17-25-45

w/minor 1st or Lewd Act)
The charge is: [X] As Indicted, Lesser Included Offense, Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. (defendant's initials)
The plea is: Without Negotiations or Recommendation, (X) Negotiated Sentence, Recommendation by the State.

(Sov^vs. -7Q<?.V7	
Eredman; Margaret Fent SC Bar# ^ Defendant Attorney for Defendant

State Department of Corrections, Q County Detention Center,

lo
SC Bar#

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the

for a determinate term of days/monthgTyearsjb- under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed
and/or to pay a fine of$ 		 ; provided that upon the service of

Tplus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.
^CONCURRENT or CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: 	
"EXThe Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to §£. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
oy the State Department ofCorrections. fj Lj sfyitM

The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Regfstryor Thfrd Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code § 1 7-25-1 35.

years

days/months/years and/or payment

of $

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammunition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
RESTITUTION: Deferred Def. Waives Hearing Ordered PTUP 	
Total: $ 	

Payment Terms: 	

Set by SCDPPPS

. 5

SLff
S'd o Q
f^ft " i ^

£
plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service EmpJ

DObtain GED Q

iAttend Voc. Rehab, or Job Corp. 	 j

May serve W/E begining 	

Substance Abuse Counseling

Random Drug/Alcohol testing

Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekl
pmts. of $

PfS
O 3q'X

XRecipient: 	

*Fine: 	
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %)

§ 14-1-211 (A)( 1 ) (Conv. Surcharge)

§ 14-1-21 1(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge)

§ 56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment)

§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test)

Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob)
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding)
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge)

§ 50-2 1 - 1 1 4(BUI Breath Test Fee)
§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment)

Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge)

3% to County (ifpaid in installments)
TOTAL

5$
o 0
s? w

UL
$ Itl

$100 $

$100 ~$
$12 ~$
$25

$500 ~$

beginning r \

$ paid to Public Defender Fund

Other:

$25 $
$150 $

$50 $
$40/ea $ Appointed PD or appointed _ , :

§ 47. 12 requires $500 be pai^ to j;! ! .'£7' .yj
during probation. .

$5 $

$

$

Presiding Judge 	

Judge Code: 	pl\lolClerk of Court/ Deput

Court Reporter: A

SCCA/2 1 7 (03/20 1 1 )

led

Pfe:
i'iiY., i7..v -- -

102




